

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations–Clinical Research Design

College of Public Health

2018

UTERINE CORPUS MALIGNANCIES IN APPALACHIA KENTUCKY: INCIDENCE, SURVIVAL AND RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES

Marian Symmes Johnson University of Kentucky, symmes85@gmail.com Author ORCID Identifier: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3010-1112 Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2018.439

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Johnson, Marian Symmes, "UTERINE CORPUS MALIGNANCIES IN APPALACHIA KENTUCKY: INCIDENCE, SURVIVAL AND RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES" (2018). *Theses and Dissertations--Clinical Research Design*. 3.

https://uknowledge.uky.edu/crd_etds/3

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Public Health at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Clinical Research Design by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.



STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Marian Symmes Johnson, Student Dr. David Mannino, Major Professor Dr. David Mannino, Director of Graduate Studies



UTERINE CORPUS MALIGNANCIES IN APPALACHIA KENTUCKY: INCIDENCE, SURVIVAL AND RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES

THESIS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in the College of Public Health at the University of Kentucky

By

Marian Symmes Johnson, MD

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. David Mannino, Professor of Medicine in the Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care, and Sleep Medicine

Lexington, Kentucky

2018

Copyright © Marian Symmes Johnson 2018 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3010-1112



ABSTRACT OF THESIS

UTERINE CORPUS MALIGNANCIES IN APPALACHIA KENTUCKY: INCIDENCE, SURVIVAL AND RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES

Uterine cancer is the nation's most common gynecologic malignancy but is understudied in the geographically and socioeconomically diverse state of Kentucky (KY). This study assessed the frequency, distribution, and survival of uterine corpus malignancies in KY, and specifically the differences between Appalachia (AP) and non-Appalachia (NAP).

This study utilizes SEER and Kentucky Cancer Registries to study uterine corpus malignancy between January 1, 2000 and December 31, 2014. The analysis looks at incidence between diagnoses in AP and NAP. Evaluation criteria includes: tumor histology (Type I, Type II, sarcoma, and mixed uterine malignancy), age, race, smoking status, stage at diagnosis, insurance status, and county of residence at diagnosis.

KEYWORDS: Uterine Cancer, Appalachia, Kentucky

Marian Symmes Johnson

11/29/2018

Date



UTERINE CORPUS MALIGNANCIES IN APPALACHIA KENTUCKY: INCIDENCE, SURVIVAL AND RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES

By Marian Symmes Johnson, MD

David Mannino, MD

Director of Thesis

David Mannino, MD Director of Graduate Studies 11/29/2018

Date



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER 1.INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
1.2 Objectives
CHAPTER 2.METHODS
2.1 Data Collection Approval
2.2 Eligibility Criteria
2.3 Definition of Variables
2.4 Statistical Analysis
CHAPTER 3.RESULTS
3.1 Overview
3.2 Incidence
3.3 Survival
3.4 Age
3.5 Race
3.6 Smoking
3.7 Insurance
3.8 Stage
3.9 Incidence by County 11
CHAPTER 4.DISCUSSION
4.1 Commentary on Results
4.2 Limitations
4.3 Conclusion
REFERENCES
VITA



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Age-Adjusted Cancer Incidence for Uterine Malignancy, U.S. vs Kentukc	:y,
2000-204	2
Table 3.2 Age-Adjusted Cancer Incidence for Uterine Malignancy in Kentucky, No	n-
Appalachia vs Appalachia, 2000-2014 (N=8,948)	13
Table 3.3 Comparison of Demographics by Type of Uterine Malignancy in Kentuck	cy,
2000-2014 (N=8,948)	14
Table 3.4 Comparison of Demographics by Region for Uterine Malignancy in	
Kentucky, 2000-2014 (N=8,948)	16
Table 3.5 Cox Regression Survival Analysis, Kentucky. 2000-2014	18



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Kaplan-Meier Survival Estimate from SEER data comparing the United States	3
to Kentucky 2000-2014 (p=0.2415)20)
Figrue 3.2. Kaplan-Meier Survival Estimate by Type of Uterine Malignancy for	
Kentucky, 2000-2014 (p<0.0001)21	
Figure 3.3. Kaplan-Meier Survial Estimate by Race for Kentucky, 2000-2014 (p<0.0001))
	2
Figure 3.4. Incidence of Type I Uterine Maligancy by Kentucky Region, 2000-20142	3



CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

According to 2018 Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) data, the state of Kentucky (KY) has the highest incidence and the highest death rate for female cancers in the United States (U.S.).1 Kentucky's cancer woes are a result of a constellation of enduring social, economic, and healthcare access inequities. Eastern KY is in the heart of Central Appalachia, an area that is mountainous, mostly rural, and one of the nation's most economically disadvantaged regions. It is also a population that is almost exclusively non-Hispanic white (95%).2 The high cancer burden in Appalachia has been repeatedly linked to widespread poverty and related societal mores, including: tobacco abuse, obesity and associated metabolic syndromes, lower levels of education, unemployment, and limited access to healthcare.3-5 Many of these factors are known to influence the development of corpus uterine cancers.

Cancer of the uterine corpus is the most common malignancy of the female reproductive system and the fourth most common cancer in U.S. women. Over the past decade, the incidence of uterine cancer in the U.S. has steadily increased, creating a growing gap between the number of new corpus cancers versus new female malignancies.1,6 From 2008 to 2018, the magnitude of the incidence gap in KY was twice the national trend, with a 46% increase in corpus cancers compared to a 12% increase in new female cancers.1,6 The geographic distribution of these cancers is an important part in explaining the elevated incidence in KY. Before we can overcome the disparities affecting uterine cancer in Kentucky's different geographic regions, we must first understand the chief contributing factors.



1

1.2 Objectives

The principle objective of this retrospective cohort study is to utilize SEER and the Kentucky Cancer Registry to compare the frequency, distribution, and disease survival of uterine corpus malignancies in the U.S. and Kentucky, and examine the differences between Appalachian and non-Appalachian KY regions. Secondary study objectives include an analysis of factors that influence the outcome of uterine corpus malignancies, including histology, stage, age, race, cigarette smoking, insurance status, and geographic area of residence.



CHAPTER 2. METHODS

2.1 Data Collection Approval

The University of Kentucky Institutional Review Board approved an expedited protocol for this cohort study. All U.S. population incidence data were obtained from SEER registries, while Kentucky data were collected through the Kentucky Cancer Registry (KCR). All Kentucky acute care hospitals, freestanding treatment centers, non-hospital pathology laboratories and physician offices are mandated to report cancer cases to KCR. Data from KCR is included in the National Cancer Institute's SEER program and the Cancer in North America publication. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines were used in reporting the results of this study.⁷

2.2 Eligibility Criteria

Women are eligible for this study if they are age 20 years or older, have a pathologic diagnosis of a uterine corpus malignancy, and are diagnosed in either the SEER and/or KCR between January 1, 2000 and December 31, 2014. Abstracted KCR data includes Appalachia region, tumor histology, age, race, smoking status, stage at diagnosis, insurance status, and county of residence at time of diagnosis. Cases were excluded for the following reasons: failure to meet age criteria, incomplete data abstraction with diagnosis from death certificate only, non-invasive disease, malignant neoplasm not otherwise specified, uncommon histology, or non-uterine malignancy.

2.3 Definition of Variables

Uterine corpus malignancies are categorized into 4 groups according to tumor histology: Type I, Type II, sarcoma, and mixed uterine malignancy. Type I uterine cancer is defined as low-grade (grade 1 or 2), endometrioid, diploid, and hormone-receptor



positive. Type II uterine cancer is defined as high-grade endometrioid, non-endometrioid (serous, clear cell, undifferentiated), aneuploid, TP53-mutated, and hormone-receptor negative.⁸ Uterine sarcoma includes both homologous and heterologous mesenchymal tumors of the uterus.^{9,10} Mixed uterine malignancies include both carcinomatous and sarcomatous components, and are alternatively named carcinosarcoma or malignant mixed Mullerian tumor (MMMT).¹⁰⁻¹²

Uterine corpus malignancy diagnoses in Appalachian KY counties (AP) were compared to uterine corpus malignancy diagnoses in non-Appalachian KY counties (NAP). In 1965, the Congress of the Commonwealth of Kentucky designated 54 of KY's 120 counties as Appalachia. The economic growth and development of these counties is overseen by the Appalachian Regional Commission.⁴ Demographic data, type of uterine malignancy, and AP and NAP region are analyzed. Further county-specific analysis is performed to screen for clustering of cases in specific geographic regions.

2.4 Statistical Analysis

Age-adjusted cancer incidence is calculated for SEER, KY, AP, and NAP standardized by the U.S. 2000 population. Rate ratio test is used to decide the statistical significance of cancer incidence rates between SEER (excluding KY) and KY, AP and NAP.¹³ Descriptive analyses for demographics and clinical factors and bivariate analyses by AP and NAP are performed. Chi-square tests are used to examine the association between Appalachian status and histology types and other covariates. Kaplan-Meier plot and Log-Rank test survival analyses are conducted to examine characteristics of histology and Appalachian status. Cox regression analysis is performed to identify which



demographics and clinical factors are associated with survival while controlling for other factors. All analyses are performed by SAS Statistical software version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). US cancer survival information is calculated based on SEER*Stat 8.3.5 (https://seer.cancer.gov/seerstat/). All statistical tests are two-sided with a 0.05 level of statistical significance.



3.1 Overview

Between the years of 2000 to 2014, we identified 165,713 uterine corpus malignancies in SEER, and 8,948 in the KCR. The overall age-adjusted incidence rates are similar for US and KY populations; however, types and distribution differ. Compared to the US population, the incidence in KY is higher for Type I, but lower for Type II, sarcoma, and mixed malignancies (Table 3.1). For Kentucky women, the age-adjusted incidence of corpus cancers is significantly higher in AP compared to NAP counties (37.8 vs. 31.5; P < .0001, Table 3.2). Type I malignancies were 6-7 fold more common than Type II, which had the second highest incidence. Specifically, AP has a higher incidence of Type I (P < .0001) and mixed malignancy (P = .04), while Type II and sarcoma are of similar incidence in AP and NAP counties (Table 2). A comparison of demographics by type of uterine malignancy is summarized in Table 3.3. Type I (79.3%) is the most common uterine corpus malignancy, followed by Type II (12.6%), mixed (4.2%), and sarcoma (3.9%). The mean age is significantly lower for sarcoma and Type I compared to Type II and mixed malignancies (P < .0001). A summary of all uterine cancer demographics by KY region is shown in Table 3.4. In addition to a higher age-adjusted incidence of Type I and mixed malignancy, AP compared to NAP counties have a younger age at diagnosis, larger NHW population, and fewer smokers. In addition, the AP cohort has more uninsured and Medicaid recipients, while NAP has a higher percentage of privately insured.



6

3.2 Incidence

The overall age–adjusted incidence rate for uterine corpus cancer diagnosed from 2000-2014 is the same for KY and US populations at 33.49 and 33.29 per 100,000, respectively (P = .51). Compared to uterine malignancies in the US, KY has a higher incidence of Type I (P = .03), but a lower incidence of Type II (P = .003), sarcoma (P = .0063), and mixed uterine malignancies (P < .001). In KY, the age-adjusted incidence rate per 100,000 women is as follows: Type I, 26.44; Type II, 4.15; sarcoma, 1.36; and mixed, 1.35. Nearly one third of all KY uterine malignancies are diagnosed in women from AP counties (2,899 of 8,948). The age-adjusted incidence of uterine corpus malignancies in AP is significantly higher compared to NAP (37.76 vs. 31.53), a consequence of more Type I (P < .0001) and mixed malignancies (P = .04). In addition, the incidence of Type I and Type II cancers in Kentucky has continued to rise each of the last five years.

3.3 Survival

The overall survival for uterine corpus malignancy is similar for US and KY populations (Figure 1, P = .2415), and there is no difference when evaluated by specific histology. In both populations, survival is better for Type I and worse for Type II, sarcoma and mixed malignancy.

On Kaplan-Meier analysis, KY women with Type I uterine cancer have the highest probability of survival, while mixed tumors have the lowest (Figure 2, P < .0001). These survival outcomes persist even when controlled for smoking status and race, and are similar in both AP and NAP counties ($X^2 = 303$, p<0.0001; $X^2 = 680$, P < .0001).



.0001, respectively). Whether comparing all corpus malignancy as one group or as individual types, there is no survival difference between AP and NAP counties (P = .47).

On Cox regression analysis (Table 3.5), the hazard ratio for death (HR) is lowest for Type I (HR 0.655; 95% CI 0.547-0.783) and Type II cancers (HR 0.652; 95% CI 0.538-0.791) compared to mixed malignancies (HR 0.926; 95% CI 0.764-1.21) and sarcoma (reference). This finding is independent of geographic region. Women from AP have similar survival compared to NAP (HR 0.896; 95% CI 0.795-1.009). Younger (20-50 years) and middle aged (51-64 years) women have a significantly lower HR than women 65 years and older (P < .001). Nonsmokers have better overall survival than smokers, regardless of AP versus NAP region. Increasing grade and stage are associated with lower survival (P < .001). In AP, women with Medicaid (HR 1.67; 95% CI 1.14-2.44) and Medicare (HR 1.54; 95% 1.05-2.26) insurance have an increased risk of death.

3.4 Age

The mean age at diagnosis for Type I uterine corpus malignancies is younger in AP versus NAP counties (59.4 vs. 60.7 years, P < .0001); likewise, women with mixed uterine tumors are diagnosed at a younger age in AP counties (65.4 vs. 68.4, P = .02). There are no observed differences in mean age at diagnosis for Type II or sarcoma malignancies. Over half of the Type II cancers are diagnosed in women over the age of 65, and this is consistent in both AP and NAP regions. Women diagnosed with uterine sarcomas are evenly distributed between age groups in both regions. On Cox regression analysis, young age at diagnosis is an independent predictor of better survival for age 20-



50 years (HR 0.29; 95% CI 0.25-0.35) and 51-64 years (HR 0.56; 95% CI 0.50-0.63) compared to over 65 years (Table 3.5)

3.5 Race

Each histology has a significantly higher proportion of Non-Hispanic Whites (NHW) compared to Non-Hispanic Blacks (NHB) (P < .0001). In AP counties, the percentage of NHW women by histology is as follows: 99% Type I, 98% Type II, 97% mixed, and 97% sarcoma. In NAP counties, NHB women are diagnosed with 5%, 13%, 16%, and 16% Type I, Type II, mixed, and sarcoma, respectively. Overall, NHW have a higher probability of survival compared to NHB or other race ($X^2 = 64$, P < .0001). NHW smokers and non-smokers both have higher overall survival compared to NHB ($X^2 = 38$, P < .0001; $X^2 = 14$, P = .003, respectively). On Kaplan-Meier survival estimate, NHB have significantly worse survival than NHW (Figure 3.3, P < .0001); however, after controlling for individual factors on Cox regression analysis, race is not a significant independent variable for the entirety of KY (Table 3.5), or in AP and NAP regions (P = .24).

3.6 Smoking

For the overall study population, 55% are nonsmokers, 24% are smokers, and the smoking status is unknown for 21%. Smokers with a uterine corpus malignancy have inferior survival compared to nonsmokers or those with unknown smoking status ($X^2 = 34$, P < .0001). There are fewer smokers in AP compared to NAP counties (Table 3.4, P = .002). For women diagnosed with uterine corpus cancers, the AP cohort is less likely to smoke for Type I (P = .005) and Type II (P = .083) cancers, though the later didn't reach



statistical significance. There are no significant smoking associations between regions for mixed malignancies. Interpretation of the sarcoma group is confounded by a relative large number of unknown results compared to other histology groups. Smoking is associated with a worse survival on Cox multivariate regression analysis (HR 1.2; 95% CI 1.10-1.31. Table 3.5).

3.7 Insurance

Insurance coverage for women with uterine corpus malignancy differs across all four histologic types. Women from AP compared to NAP counties with Type I and Type II cancers are more likely to be uninsured or receive Medicaid assistance, while more women from NAP counties are privately insured (P < .001, P = .003, respectively). There are a similar percentage of uninsured cases for mixed tumors and sarcoma. Mixed cancers in NAP are more likely to have private insurance or Medicare compared to AP cases who receive Medicaid (P = .017). For uterine sarcoma, over 50% of NAP have private insurance, while the highest percentage in AP is Medicare (41.3%). Similar to the trend seen for all corpus malignancies, AP sarcomas have at least twice the number of Medicaid recipients compared to NAP counties (15.2% v 7.5%). On Cox regression analysis (Table 3.5), private insurance in KY is an independent predictor of better survival in AP, while private insurance is an independent predictor of better survival in NAP (HR 0.48; 95% CI 0.38-0.60).



www.manaraa.com

3.8 Stage

Information regarding stage is challenging to interpret because of changing treatment trends over the last decade. Since it doesn't appear to alter survival, many low risk Type I uterine cancers do not undergo formal staging lymphadenectomy. Overall, stage I and II combined were of similar percentage between AP and NAP regions. The stage at diagnosis for sarcomas was unknown for the majority of cases; therefore, a reliable comparison cannot be made. There is a high number of unknown stages for mixed uterine malignancies as well; however, the percentage of advanced stage diagnoses in AP is double the rate recorded for NAP (P = .019).

3.9 Incidence by County

For Type I uterine cancer, the highest incidence is seen in 3 NAP compared to 7 AP counties (33.37 to 45.28 cases per 100,000 people, Figure 3.4). In addition, 9 other AP counties are identified in the second highest incidence group compared to 3 NAP counties. Similarly, for Type II histology 2 NAP counties and 10 AP counties have the highest incidence (7.92-12.79 per 100,000). For mixed and sarcoma, the highest incidence counties are more evenly distributed between AP and NAP counties. For mixed malignancies, there are 2 NAP and 3 AP counties (3.78-6.78 cases per 100,000), and for sarcoma there is 1 NAP and 2 AP counties (4.87-9.64 per 100,000).



	Ν	Age-adjusted Rate*	Lower 95% CI	Upper 95% CI	<i>P</i> -Value
All- US	165,713	33.49	33.33	33.66	.5063
All- KY	8,948	33.29	32.59	33.99	
Type 1- US	127,257	25.69	25.55	25.83	.0274
Type 1- KY	7,100	26.44	25.82	27.07	
Type 2- US	22,463	4.53	4.47	4.59	.0027
Type 2- KY	1,127	4.15	3.90	4.40	.0027
Sarcoma- US	7,538	1.57	1.54	1.61	.0063
Sarcoma- KY	347	1.36	1.22	1.51	
Mixed- US	8,455	1.70	1.67	1.74	< .0001
Mixed - KY	374	1.35	1.21	1.49	

Table 3.1 Age-Adjusted Cancer Incidence for Uterine malignancy, U.S. vs Kentucky, 2000-2014

Comparison between SEER (U.S.) and KCR (KY), 2000-2014.

*Age-adjusted Rate is per 100,000.

Rate-ratio test for statistical comparison.



	Ν	Age-adjusted Rate*	Lower 95% CI	Upper 95% CI	<i>P</i> -Value
All- KY					< .0001
NAP	6049	31.53	30.73	32.34	
AP	2899	37.76	36.37	39.18	
Type 1					<.0001
NAP	4764	24.86	24.16	25.59	-
AP	2336	30.41	29.17	31.69	
Type 2					.1212
NAP	781	4.02	3.74	4.32	
AP	346	4.46	4.00	4.96	
Sarcoma					.5836
NAP	255	1.39	1.22	1.57	
AP	92	1.30	1.04	1.60	
Mixed Tumor					.0452
NAP	249	1.25	1.10	1.42	1
AP	125	1.58	1.32	1.89	1

Table 3.2 Age-Adjusted Cancer Incidence for Uterine Malignancy in Kentucky, Non-Appalachia vs Appalachia, 2000-1014 (N=8,948)

*Age-adjusted Rate is per 100,000. NAP- Non-Appalachia KY, AP- Appalachia KY. Chi square test for statistical comparison.



	T	ype I	I Type II		Type IISarcomaMixed		Type IISarcomaMix		Sarcoma		Mixed		<i>P</i> -
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	Value				
Total	7100	79.35%	1127	12.59%	347	3.88%	374	4.18%					
Age									<.0001				
Mean	60.38	8±12.59	65.2	3±12.69	56.7	3±14.07	67.3	8±11.45					
20-50	1406	19.80%	138	12.24%	125	36.02%	24	6.42%					
51-64	3170	44.65%	397	35.23%	119	34.29%	129	34.49%					
65+	2524	35.55%	592	52.53%	103	29.68%	221	59.09%					
Race									<.0001				
White	6771	95.37%	1010	89.62%	302	87.03%	329	87.97%					
Black	269	3.79%	110	9.76%	43	12.39%	43	11.50%					
Other	31	0.44%	5	0.44%	1	0.29%	1	0.27%					
Unknown	29	0.41%	2	0.18%	1	0.29%	1	0.27%					
Hispanic									.4807				
Non- Hispanic	6913	97.37%	1105	98.05%	340	97.98%	366	97.86%					
Hispanic	32	0.45%	60	5.32%	2	0.58%	3	0.80%					
Unknown	155	2.18%	16	1.42%	5	1.44%	5	1.34%					
Marital									<.0001				
Never married	950	13.38%	137	12.16%	49	14.12%	43	11.50%					
Ever Married	3759	52.94%	518	45.96%	181	52.16%	172	45.99%					
Divorced or Widowed	1704	24.00%	384	34.07%	87	25.07%	125	33.42%					

Table 3.3 Comparison of Demographics by Type of Uterine Malignancy in Kentucky, 2000-2014 (N=8,948).



Table 3.3 (continued)

Unknown	687	9.68%	88	7.81%	30	8.65%	34	9.09%	
Smoke									.0017
Non- Smoker	3982	56.08%	592	52.53%	168	48.41%	199	53.21%	
Smoker	1637	23.06%	284	25.20%	110	31.70%	103	27.54%	
Unknown	1481	20.86%	251	22.27%	69	19.88%	72	19.25%	
Insurance									<.0001
Not Insured	335	4.72%	46	4.08%	21	6.05%	20	5.35%	
Private Insured	3177	44.75%	399	35.40%	170	48.99%	99	26.47%	
Medicare	2707	38.13%	560	49.69%	111	31.99%	214	57.22%	
Medicaid	538	7.58%	80	7.10%	33	9.51%	32	8.56%	
Other Public	71	1.00%	7	0.62%	3	0.86%	2	0.53%	
Unknown	272	3.83%	35	3.11%	9	2.59%	7	1.87%	
Stage									<.0001
In situ	6	0.08%			1	0.29%			
Stage I	5311	74.80%	541	48.00%	11	3.17%	60	16.04%	
Stage II	425	5.99%	106	9.41%	3	0.86%	16	4.28%	
Stage III	503	7.08%	237	21.03%	1	0.29%	37	9.89%	
Stage IV	251	3.54%	153	13.58%	3	0.86%	48	12.83%	
Unknown	604	8.51%	90	7.99%	328	94.52%	213	56.95%	

Chi square test for statistical comparison.



	Total		I	NAP		<i>P</i> -Value	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	
Total	8948	100.00%	6049	67.60%	2899	32.40%	
Age							.0023
20-50	1693	18.92%	1108	18.32%	585	20.18%	
51-64	3815	42.64%	2543	42.04%	1272	43.88%	
65+	3440	38.44%	2398	39.64%	1042	35.94%	
Mean	61.1	4±12.81	61.5	6±12.86	60.2	5±12.67	.3549
Race							<.0001
White	8412	94.01%	5555	91.83%	2857	98.55%	
Black	465	5.20%	434	7.17%	31	1.07%	
Other	38	0.42%	36	0.60%	2	0.07%	
Unknown	33	0.37%	24	0.40%	9	0.31%	
Hispanic							.0139
Non-Hispanic	8724	97.50%	5890	97.37%	2834	97.76%	
Hispanic	43	0.48%	38	0.63%	5	0.17%	
Unknown	181	2.02%	121	2.00%	60	2.07%	
Marital							<.0001
Never married	1179	13.18%	876	14.48%	303	10.45%	
Ever Married	4630	51.74%	3073	50.80%	1557	53.71%	
Divorced/Widowed	2300	25.70%	1586	26.22%	714	24.63%	
Unknown	839	9.38%	514	8.50%	325	11.21%	

Table 3.4 Comparison of Demographics by Region for Uterine Malignancy in Kentucky, 2000-2014 (N=8,948).



Table 3.4 (continued)

Smoke							.002
Non-Smoker	4941	55.22%	3287	54.34%	1654	57.05%	
Smoker	2134	23.85%	1509	24.95%	625	21.56%	
Unknown	1873	20.93%	1253	20.71%	620	21.39%	
Insurance							<.0001
Not Insured	422	4.72%	256	4.23%	166	5.73%	
Private Insured	3845	42.97%	2814	46.52%	1031	35.56%	
Medicare	3592	40.14%	2403	39.73%	1189	41.01%	
Medicaid	683	7.63%	309	5.11%	374	12.90%	
Other Public	83	0.93%	59	0.98%	24	0.83%	
Unknown	323	3.61%	208	3.44%	115	3.97%	
Stage							<.0001
In situ	7	0.08%	3	0.05%	4	0.14%	
Stage I	5923	66.19%	4026	66.56%	1897	65.44%	
Stage II	550	6.15%	341	5.64%	209	7.21%	
Stage III	778	8.69%	556	9.19%	222	7.66%	
Stage IV	455	5.08%	318	5.26%	137	4.73%	
N/A	558	6.24%	407	6.73%	151	5.21%	
Unknown	677	7.57%	398	6.58%	279	9.62%	
Histology							.0466
Туре І	7100	79.35%	4764	78.76%	2336	80.58%	
Type II	1127	12.59%	781	12.91%	346	11.94%	
Sarcoma	347	3.88%	255	4.22%	92	3.17%	
Mixed	374	4.18%	249	4.12%	125	4.31%	

NAP- Non-Appalachia KY, AP- Appalachia KY.

Chi square test for statistical comparison.



	HR	95% CI		P-Value
Histology				< .001
Туре І	0.655	0.547	0.783	
Type II	0.652	0.538	0.791	
Mixed	0.926	0.764	1.121	
Sarcoma	ref			
Age				< .001
20-50	0.294	0.249	0.348	
51-64	0.564	0.501	0.634	
65+	ref			
Race				.2435
Black	1.080	0.936	1.254	
Other	0.852	0.424	1.711	
Unknown	0.186	0.026	1.322	
White				
Region				.0687
Appalachia	0.896	0.795	1.0090	
Non-Appalachia	ref			
Cigarette Smoking				< .001
Smoker	1.201	1.100	1.310	
Unknown	1.125	1.027	1.232	
Non-Smoker	ref			
Insurance				< .001
Medicaid	1.063	0.852	1.326	
Medicare	0.016	0.827	1.247	
Other Public	0.685	0.412	1.139	
Private Insured	0.568	0.469	0.689	
Unknown	0.846	0.655	1.092	

Table 3.5 Cox Regression Survival Analysis, Kentucky. 2000-2014.



Table 3.5 (continued)

Not Insured	ref			
Stage				< .001
In situ	0.449	0.063	3.197	
Stage II	1.669	1.440	1.934	
Stage III	2.645	2.356	2.969	
Stage IV	7.457	6.586	8.444	
Unknown	2.236	1.989	2.513	
Stage I	ref			
Grade				< .001
Unknown	2.096	1.839	2.388	
2	1.168	1.049	1.301	
3	1.887	1.677	2.123	
Undifferentiated	2.211	1.910	2.560	
1	ref			
High School Education				.0002
High	0.781	0.665	0.916	
Low	0.788	0.697	0.890	
Moderate	0.885	0.772	1.015	
Very Low	ref			





Figure 3.1 Kaplan-Meier Survival Estimate from SEER data comparing the U.S. to Kentucky 2000-2014 (p=0.2415)



The LIFETEST Procedure



Figure 3.2 Kaplan-Meier Survival Estimate by Type of Uterine Malignancy for Kentucky, 2000-2014 (p<0.0001)





Figure 3.3 Kaplan-Meier Survival Estimate by Race for Kentucky, 2000-2014 (p<0.0001).





Figure 3.4 Incidence of Type I Uterine Malignancy by Kentucky Region, 2000-2014.



CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

Kentucky leads the nation in female cancer incidence and mortality. Similar to US trends, the incidence of uterine malignancy in KY is steadily increasing; however, it varies significantly based on geographic region and cancer type. Uterine corpus cancers in AP compared to NAP KY are different in cause and consequence. There are several relevant socioeconomic factors, including: age, obesity, cigarette smoking, race, insurance, and perhaps hereditary syndromes. Further characterizing these factors and understanding how they influence the cause and outcome of corpus cancers is important, particularly in Appalachia KY where the cancer burden is disproportionately high.

4.1 Commentary on Results

Compared to the rest of the nation, Type I uterine cancers are significantly more common in KY while other types of corpus cancers are less common. Our findings also show that Type I cancer in KY is more commonly a disease of younger, non-smoking, non-Hispanic white (NHW) women. Appalachia has a much higher incidence of corpus malignancies than NAP KY, and the numbers are particularly disproportionate given the population distribution in the state. While AP counties are home to 26.4% of Kentucky's population, 32.4% of the uterine cancers come from this geographic region.² In addition to Type I cancers, the age-adjusted incidence of mixed uterine malignancies is higher and the mean age at diagnosis is lower in AP compared to NAP counties. Although more cancer in younger women is an alarming trend, we did observe that younger women have improved survival regardless of geographic location.



www.manaraa.com

Cancer outcomes are not always inferior for those living in socioeconomically disadvantaged regions like AP.¹⁴ Although the incidence of uterine cancers was higher in AP versus NAP counties, cancer-specific survival did not differ based on geographic location. This may reflect a balance of influences on survival, for instance: more cancers in AP but younger age at diagnosis, or fewer cancers in NAP but more cigarette smokers. For this investigation, the most likely explanation is the high percentage of Type I cancers relative to other types of uterine malignancy. Not only do Type I cancers make up 79% of the study population, they also have the highest survival, followed in order by Type II, sarcoma, and mixed malignancies.

The prevalence of cigarette smokers in Kentucky remains the highest in the nation.¹ Nearly 1 in 4 Kentucky residents smokes cigarettes (26%), contributing to the high number of lung, head and neck, and other smoking-attributable cancers.⁵ But for Type I uterine corpus cancers, cigarette smoking appears to be protective, possibly through an increase in progesterone receptor expression.¹⁵ A recent meta-analysis confirmed an inverse relationship between current and past cigarette smoking and the risk of endometrial cancer (RR=0.81; OR=0.72), especially in postmenopausal women.¹⁶ In this investigation, we observed that there are fewer cigarette smokers in AP than in NAP KY; though causation cannot be inferred, this may influence the higher incidence of Type I cancers in this geographic region.

Uterine malignancy has historically been a disease of older women, but this is no longer the case. Findings from this investigation show that women from AP KY are being diagnosed with Type I and mixed uterine tumors at younger age. A recent pooled analysis of 24 studies found the mean age at diagnosis for Type I uterine corpus cancers is 61.9



years.¹⁷ In KY, women are being diagnosed with Type I uterine corpus cancers at a younger age, especially in AP compared to NAP counties (59.4 vs. 60.7 years, respectively; P < .0001). Interestingly, this trend is counter to the general KY population which is actually older in AP counties. The 2011-2015 American Community Survey reports a mean age in AP compared to NAP of 40.8 and 38.1 years, respectively.² The same trend toward younger age at diagnosis is observed for mixed tumors in AP versus NAP KY (65.4 vs. 68.4 years, respectively; P = .02). In AP counties, 67% of Type I cancers are diagnosed in the age groups from 20-50 and 51-64 years compared to 63% for NAP KY, and a surprisingly high percentage of mixed tumors are identified in AP versus NAP counties in women under the age of 50 years (11% vs. 4%, respectively). At least for estrogen-dependent uterine cancers, the obesity epidemic may be a contributing factor, as a linear decrease in age at diagnosis has been correlated with an increasing body mass index (BMI) over time.¹⁸

Prolonged estrogen exposure is an established risk factor for uterine corpus cancer, and is related to a number of factors, including: obesity, nulliparity, late menarche, early menopause, and exogenous estrogen or tamoxifen.^{17,19-22} When all Appalachian states are considered, KY has the highest prevalence of obesity (35.2%), and the seventh highest obesity rate in the U.S.^{3,23} Even NAP KY has a higher prevalence of obesity than the national average of (31.2% vs 27.4%, respectively).²³ Previous population-based reports have linked obesity to the high rate of uterine corpus cancers in AP KY.²⁴ An association between estrogen excess and mixed tumors may also be relevant, since they are now thought to arise from genetic mutations of a pure carcinoma cell line.^{9,12,25}



26

Mixed uterine malignancy, also known as carcinosarcoma or malignant mixed Mullerian tumor (MMMT), is now believed to be a high-grade carcinoma that arises from a monoclonal cell which can dedifferentiate into a sarcomatous component.^{9,11,12,26,27} Unlike Type I corpus cancers, mixed tumors are typically diagnosed in the seventh decade, and are disproportionately seen in NHB women and in women exposed to tamoxifen and pelvic radiation. Like Type I corpus cancers, a national trend of decreasing age at diagnosis has also been reported for mixed uterine tumors, with previous mean age of diagnosis in the early seventies compared to current mean age of 68.2.²⁸ Compared to other uterine corpus cancers, patient outcomes are considerably worse for this high-grade malignancy, though reportedly similar for black and white women provided they receive comparable treatment.²⁹ Over the last two decades, national trends demonstrate a dramatic decrease in NHW from 86% to 60%, and a concomitant increase in NHB from 12% to 20%.²⁷ In Kentucky, the racial distribution in AP is overwhelmingly NHW, so it is an unexpected finding that more mixed tumors were diagnosed in AP than NAP.

Historically, the AP population has been non-migratory. Over the last decade, there has been a net AP emigration of only 1.3%, compared to a net immigration into NAP of 3.3%.² The population stability of the AP region makes it an intriguing target for the study of hereditary and environmental exposure. Previous evaluations of cancer inheritance patterns in AP contributed to the discovery of Lynch syndrome. Lynch syndrome, also known as hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer syndrome (HNPCC), can includes uterine, as well as gastrointestinal, ovarian, hepatobiliary, and upper urinary tract cancers. This inherited germline mutation has alterations in several mismatch repair genes that result in microsatellite instability which predisposes to early



onset cancers. These HNPCC germline cancers are often diagnosed at a younger age compared to similar cancers from somatic mutation. Given the increased incidence in AP of Type I cancers and a shift toward younger age at diagnosis, it is conceivable that genetic factors have contributed to our findings. In addition, there are reports suggesting mixed uterine malignancies may also be associated with Lynch syndrome, specifically in carriers of the MSH 2 and MLH 1 mutation.^{30,31} There is a well-known founder population in AP KY with the MSH 2 mutation.³² More comprehensive genetic testing of women in this region may provide further insight into the association between Type I cancers, mixed malignancies, and hereditary syndromes.

Disparities in uterine cancer incidence and outcomes in Kentucky, and specifically in AP, are not necessarily a consequence of racial disparity. As background, AP is known to have a high cancer prevalence and is predominantly NHW. The measured death rates in KY are equivalent for NHB and NHW (Death Rate Ratio = 1.01; 95% CI 0.93-1.10).¹ For this investigation, Kaplan-Meier analysis shows inferior survival for NHB compared to NHW women overall; however, a multivariate Cox regression survival analysis shows that race does not independently impact survival (HR 1.08; CI 0.94-1.2, p=0.24. Table 5). What is evident in KY is that NHW women are three times more likely to be diagnosed with Type I uterine cancer than any other race. The general population in AP KY is 95% NHW contrasted with 82.1% for NAP counties, which may explain why 98.8% of Type I uterine cancers in AP counties are diagnosed in NHW women. In KY, non-Hispanic black women are more likely to be diagnosed with aggressive uterine cell types, namely Type II, sarcoma and mixed malignancies. This is consistent with national trends, as the U.S. incidence of uterine sarcoma for NHB women is nearly twice that of



NHW women.^{24,33,34} We observed that the percentage of NHB women diagnosed with sarcoma or mixed tumors throughout the state is double the percent of NHB in the KY study population. Given the underrepresentation of NHB women in the statewide population, it is not surprising that the age-adjusted cancer incidence for uterine sarcoma and mixed malignancies is lower in Kentucky that the United States (Table 1).

It has been previously reported that cancer patients with Medicaid or no insurance compared to those privately insured present with more advanced disease, are less likely to receive National Comprehensive Cancer Network[®]-compliant cancer care (including surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation), and experience worse outcomes.³⁵ We observe a higher percentage of uninsured or Medicaid in AP versus NAP counties. Overall, women in KY with a uterine malignancy and private insurance have better survival than those with no insurance, mostly from a significant contribution in NAP KY. Conversely, Medicaid and Medicare are independently associated with worse outcomes in AP KY.

4.2 Limitations

The limitations to this investigation are inherent to any observational registry study. As a retrospective study, Appalachian status was only measured at the time of cancer diagnosis which may not reflect the whole residential history of patients. Central pathology review is also not possible, and standard treatment or histologic interpretation may have changed over the study period affecting observed outcomes. In addition, KCR does not collect weight or BMI data for cancer patients so we are unable to validate previous studies that demonstrated a relationship between obesity and endometrial cancer in Kentucky.^{20,23} Lastly, while the identified correlations are significant, a causal



relationship cannot be determined because of the retrospective study design. The strengths of this investigation include the large study population identified using SEER and KCR databases, and the novel and robust comparison of AP and NAP regions that includes several variables relevant to disease incidence and survival.

4.3 Conclusion

Kentucky is split into 2 distinct geographic regions, Appalachia and non-Appalachia. AP KY has a higher age-adjusted incidence of Type I and mixed uterine corpus cancers compared to NAP KY, and these cancers are being identified at a significantly younger age. In addition to obesity which has previously been reported, we identify several predisposing and inter-related socioeconomic factors that may influence uterine corpus cancers, including cigarette smoking, type of insurance, and possible hereditary syndromes (HNPCC). AP and NAP cohorts have a similar survival comparable to survival at the national level. While Type I corpus cancer is the most prevalent malignancy in KY, it is also associated with the best clinical outcomes. As the cost of testing decreases, a comprehensive population-based genetic study of Appalachia would help determine the impact of hereditary syndromes on the observed increased incidence and younger age at diagnosis for both Type I and mixed uterine corpus malignancies.



REFERENCES

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2018. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2018;68(1):7-30. doi:10.3322/caac.21442.

2. Kevin Pollard and Linda Jacobsen; Population Reference Bureau. The Appalachian Region: A data overview from the 2012-2016 American Community Survey. Prepared for the Appalachian Regional Commission under contract #CO-19073-17. https://www.arc.gov/assets/research_reports/DataOverviewfrom2012to2016ACS.pdf. Published March 2018. Accessed May 15, 2018.

3. BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/brfssprevalence/. Published September 13, 2017. Accessed April 3, 2018.

4. Appalachian Regional Commission. Appalachian Development Highway System - Appalachian Regional Commission. http://www.arc.gov/. Accessed March 15, 2018.

5. Wilson RJ, Ryerson AB, Singh SD, King JB. Cancer incidence in Appalachia, 2004-2011. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention. 2016;25(2):250-258. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-15-0946.

6. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, et al. Cancer statistics, 2008. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2008;58(2):71-96. doi:10.3322/ca.2007.0010.

7. Elm EV, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. The Lancet. 2007;370(9596):1453-1457. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(07)61602-x.

8. Bokhman JV. Two pathogenetic types of endometrial carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 1983;15(1):10-17. doi:10.1016/0090-8258(83)90111-7.

9. Dangelo E, Prat J. Uterine sarcomas: A review. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;116(1):131-139. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno. 2009.09.023.

10. Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington S, Young RH. WHO classification of tumours of the female reproductive organs. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC; 2014.

11.Cantrell LA, Blank SV, Duska LR. Uterine carcinosarcoma: A review of the
literature.literature.GynecologicOncology.2015;137(3):581-588.doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.03.041.

12. Fuji H, Yoshida M, Gong ZX, et al. Frequent genetic heterogeneity in the clonal evolution of gynecological carcinosarcoma and its influence on phenotypic diversity. Cancer Research. 2000; 60(1):114-120.



31

13. Fay MP, Tiwari RC, Feuer EJ, Zou Z. Estimating average annual percent change for disease rates without assuming constant change. Biometrics. 2006; 62(3):847-54.

14. Bregar A, Rauh-Hain J, Spencer R, Clemmer J, Schorge J, Rice L, Del Carmen M. Disparities in receipt of care for high-grade endometrial cancer: A National Cancer Data Base analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2017;145 (1), 114-121.

15. Zhou Y, Jorgensen EM, Gan Y, Taylor HS. Cigarette smoke increases progesterone receptor and Homeobox A10 expression in human endometrial and endometrial cells: A potential role in the decreased prevalence of endometrial pathology in smokers1. Biology of Reproduction. 2011;84(6):1242-1247. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.110.087494.

16. Zhou B, Yang L, Sun Q, et al. Cigarette smoking and the risk of endometrial cancer: A meta-analysis. The American Journal of Medicine. 2008;121(6). doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2008.01.044.

17. Setiawan VW, Yang HP, Pike MC, et al. Type I and II endometrial cancers: Have they different risk factors? Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2013 Jul 10;31(20):2607-18. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.48.2596.

18. Nevadunsky N, Van Arsdale A, Strickler H, Moadel A, Kaur G, Levitt J, Girda E, Goldfinger M, Goldberg G, Einstein M. Obesity and age at diagnosis of endometrial cancer. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;124:300-6.

19. Yang HP, Wentzensen N, Trabert B, Gierach G, Felix A, Gunter M, Hollenbeck A, Park Y, Sherman M, Brinton L. Endometrial cancer risk factors by 2 main histologic subtypes. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2012; 177(2):142-151. doi:10.1093/aje/kws200.

20. Felix AS, Weissfeld JL, Stone RA, et al. Factors associated with Type I and Type II endometrial cancer. Cancer Causes & Control. 2010; 21(11):1851-1856. doi:10.1007/s10552-010-9612-8.

21. Wysowski DK, Honig SF, Beitz J. Uterine sarcoma associated with tamoxifen use. New England Journal of Medicine. 2002; 346(23):1832-1833. doi:10.1056/nejm200206063462319.

22. Wickerham DL, Fisher B, Wolmark N, et al. Association of tamoxifen and uterine sarcoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2002;20(11):2758-2760. doi:10.1200/jco.2002.20.11.2758.

23.Julie L. Marshall; Cecil G. Sheps Center, Appalachian Regional Commission.HealthDisparitieshttps://www.arc.gov/assets/research_reports/Health_Disparities_in_Appalachia_August_2017.pdf. Published August 2017. Accessed April 30, 2018.



24. Modesitt SC, Huang B, Shelton BJ, Wyatt S. Endometrial cancer in Kentucky: The impact of age, smoking status, and rural residence. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;103(1):300-306. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.03.009.

25. Toro JR, Travis LB, Wu HJ, Zhu K, Fletcher CD, Devesa SS. Incidence patterns of soft tissue sarcomas, regardless of primary site, in the surveillance, epidemiology and end results program, 1978–2001: An analysis of 26,758 cases. International Journal of Cancer. 2006;119(12):2922-2930. doi:10.1002/ijc.22239.

26. Silverberg SG, Major FJ, Blessing JA, et al. Carcinosarcoma (malignant mixed mesodermal tumor) of the uterus. International Journal of Gynecological Pathology. 1990;9(1):1-19. doi:10.1097/00004347-199001000-00001.

27. Matsuo K, Takazawa Y, Ross MS, et al. Significance of histologic pattern of carcinoma and sarcoma components on survival outcomes of uterine carcinosarcoma. Annals of Oncology. 2016;27(7):1257-66. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw161.

28. Matsuo K, Ross MS, Machida H, Blake EA, Roman LD. Trends of uterine carcinosarcoma in the United States. Gynecol Oncol. 2018;29(2). doi:10.3802/jgo.2018.29.e22.

29. Brooks SE, Zhan M, Cote T, Baquet CR. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results analysis of 2677 cases of uterine sarcoma 1989–1999. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;93(1):204-208. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2003.12.029.

30. Broaddus R, Lynch H, Chen L, Daniels M, Conrad P, Munsell M, White K, Luthra R, Lu K. Pathologic features of endometrial carcinoma associated with HNPCC: A comparison with sporadic endometrial carcinoma. Cancer. 2006;106(1): 87-96.

31. South SA, Hutton M, Farrell C, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Rodabaugh KJ. Uterine carcinosarcoma associated with hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Obstet Gynecol. 2007;110(Supplement):543-545. doi:10.1097/01.aog.0000275262.60526.01.

32. Lynch, Henry T. "A Founder Mutation of the MSH2 Gene and Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer in the United States." Jama, vol. 291, no. 6, Nov. 2004, p. 718., doi:10.1001/jama.291.6.718.

33. Abeler VM, Røyne O, Thoresen S, Danielsen HE, Nesland JM, Kristensen GB. Uterine sarcomas in Norway. A histopathological and prognostic survey of a total population from 1970 to 2000 including 419 patients. Histopathology. 2009;54(3):355-364. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2009.03231.x.

34. Nordal R, Thoresen S. Uterine sarcomas in Norway 1956–1992: Incidence, survival and mortality. European Journal of Cancer. 1997;33(6):907-911. doi:10.1016/s0959-8049(97)00040-3.



35. Walker G, Grant S, Guadagnolo B, Hoffman K, Smith B, Koshy M, Allen P, Mahmood U. Disparities in stage at diagnosis, treatment, and survival in nonelderly adult patients with cancer according to insurance status. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:3118-3125.



VITA

Education

07/2003-05/2007	University of Georgia B.S. Biology, B.A. Latin			
08/2007-05/2011	Medical University of South Carolina College of Medicine Doctor of Medicine			
07/2011-06/2015	University of Louisville Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Women's Health Residency			
7/2015-6/2018	University of Kentucky Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Division of Gynecologic Oncology Fellowship			
Professional Position	15			
Current	Gynecologic Oncologist Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Navicent Health			
Scholastic and Professional Honors				
	Phi Beta Kappa Alpha Omega Alpha Gold Humanism and Excellence in Teaching Award University of Kentucky Fellow Teaching Award			

Publications

 Matsuo K, Ross MS, Yunokawa M, Johnson MS, Machida H, Omatsu K, Klobocista MM, Im DD, Satoh S, Baba T, Ikeda Y, Bush SH, Hasegawa K, Blake EA, Takekuma M, Shida M, Nishimura M, Adachi S, Pejovic T, Takeuchi S, Yokoyama T, Ueda Y, Iwasaki K, Miyake TM, Yanai S, Nagano T, Takano T, Shahzad MM, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Roman LD. Clinical utility of CA-125 in

Fellow American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology



the management of uterine carcinosarcoma. J Gynecol Oncol. 2018 Nov;29(6):e88. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2018.29.e88. PMID:30207096

- Matsuo K, Takazawa Y, Ross MS, Elishaev E, Yunokawa M, Sheridan TB, Bush SH, Klobocista MM, Blake EA, Takano T, Baba T, Satoh S, Shida M, Ikeda Y, Adachi S, Yokoyama T, Takekuma M, Yanai S, Takeuchi S, Nishimura M, Iwasaki K, Johnson MS, Yoshida M, Hakam A, Machida H, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Ueda Y, Yoshino K, Kajiwara H, Hasegawa K, Yasuda M, Miyake TM, Moriya T, Yuba Y, Morgan T, Fukagawa T, Pejovic T, Nagano T, Sasaki T, Richmond AM, Post MD, Shahzad MMK, Im DD, Yoshida H, Omatsu K, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Karabakhtsian RG, Roman LD. Characterizing sarcoma dominance pattern in uterine carcinosarcoma: Homologous versus heterologous element. Surg Oncol. 2018 Sep;27(3):433-440. doi: 10.1016/j.suronc.2018.05.017. Epub 2018 May 11. PMID:30217299
- 3. Matsuo K, Takazawa Y, Ross MS, Elishaev E, Yunokawa M, Sheridan TB, Bush SH, Klobocista MM, Blake EA, Takano T, Baba T, Satoh S, Shida M, Ikeda Y, Adachi S, Yokoyama T, Takekuma M, Yanai S, Takeuchi S, Nishimura M, Iwasaki K, Johnson MS, Yoshida M, Hakam A, Machida H, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Ueda Y, Yoshino K, Kajiwara H, Hasegawa K, Yasuda M, Miyake TM, Moriya T, Yuba Y, Morgan T, Fukagawa T, Pejovic T, Nagano T, Sasaki T, Richmond AM, Post MD, Shahzad MMK, Im DD, Yoshida H, Enomoto T, Omatsu K, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Karabakhtsian RG, Roman LD. Significance of Lymphovascular Space Invasion by the Sarcomatous Component in Uterine Carcinosarcoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018 Sep;25(9):2756-2766. doi: 10.1245/s10434-018-6547-x. Epub 2018 Jul 3. PMID:29971677
- Matsuo K, Takazawa Y, Ross MS, Elishaev E, Yunokawa M, Sheridan TB, Bush SH, Klobocista MM, Blake EA, Takano T, Baba T, Satoh S, Shida M, Ikeda Y, Adachi S, Yokoyama T, Takekuma M, Yanai S, Takeuchi S, Nishimura M, Iwasaki K, Johnson MS, Yoshida M, Hakam A, Machida H, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Ueda Y, Yoshino K, Kajiwara H, Hasegawa K, Yasuda M, Miyake TM, Moriya T, Yuba Y, Morgan T, Fukagawa T, Pejovic T, Nagano T, Sasaki T, Richmond AM, Post MD, Shahzad MMK, Im DD, Yoshida H, Enomoto T, Omatsu K, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Karabakhtsian RG, Roman LD. Proposal for a Risk Based Categorization of Uterine Carcinosarcoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018 Aug 13. doi: 10.1245/s10434-018-6695-z. PMID: 30105438
- Ore RM, Chen Q, DeSimone CP, Miller RW, Baldwin LA, van Nagell JR Jr, Huang B, Tucker TC, Johnson MS, Fredericks TI, Ueland FR. Population-Bsed Analysis of Patient Age and Other Disparities in the Treatment of Ovarian Cancer in Central Appalachia and Kentucky. South Med J. 2018 Jun;111(6):333-341. doi: 10.14423/SMJ.00000000000821. PMID: 29863220



- Matsuo K, Ross MS, Im DD, Klobocista MM, Bush SH, Johnson MS, Takano T, Blake EA, Ikeda Y, Nishimura M, Ueda Y, Shida M, Hasegawa K, Baba T, Adachi S, Yokoyama T, Satoh S, Machida H, Yanai S, Iwasaki K, Miyake TM, Takeuchi S, Takekuma M, Nagano T, Yunokawa M, Pejovic T, Omatsu K, Shahzad MMK, Kelley JL, Ueland FR, Roman LD. <u>Significance of venous thromboembolism in women with uterine carcinosarcoma</u>. Gynecol Oncol. 2017 Dec 13. pii: S0090-8258(17)31546-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.11.036. [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 29248197.
- Matsuo K, Ross MS, Yunokawa M, Johnson MS, Machida H, Omatsu K, Klobocista MM, Im DD, Satoh S, Baba T, Ikeda Y, Bush SH, Hasegawa K, Blake EA, Takekum M, Shida M, Nishimura M, Adachi S, Pejovic T, Takeuchi S, Yokoyama T, Ueda Y, Iwasaki K, Miyake TM, Yanai S, Nagano T, Takano T, Shahzad MMK, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Roman LD. Salvage chemotherapy with taxane and platinum for women with recurrent uterine carcinosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2017 Dec;147(3):565-571. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.10.008. Epub 2017 Oct 20. PMID: 29056442.
- Matsuo K, Johnson MS, Im DD, Ross MS, Bush SH, Yunokawa M, Blake EA, Takano T, Klobocista MM, Hasegawa K, Ueda Y, Shida M, Baba T, Satoh S, Yokoyama T, Machida H, Ikeda Y, Adachi S, Miyake TM, Iwasaki K, Yanai S, Takeuchi S, Nishimura M, Nagano T, Takekuma M, Shahzad MMK, Pejovic T, Omatsu K, Kelley JL, Ueland FR, Roman LD. <u>Survival outcome of women with stage IV uterine carcinosarcoma who received neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery.</u> J Surg Oncol. 2017 Oct 16. doi: 10.1002/jso.24861. [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 29044542
- 9. Matsuo K, Omatsu K, Ross MS, Johnson MS, Yunokawa M, Klobocista MM, Im DD, Bush SH, Ueda Y, Takano T, Blake EA, Hasegawa K, Baba T, Shida M, Satoh S, Yokoyama T, Machida H, Adachi S, Ikeda Y, Iwasaki K, Miyake TM, Yanai S, Nishimura M, Nagano T, Takekuma M, Takeuchi S, Pejovic T, Shahzad MM, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Roman LD. <u>Impact of adjuvant therapy on recurrence patterns in stage I uterine carcinosarcoma.</u> Gynecol Oncol. 2017 Feb 16. pii: S0090-8258(17)30080-X. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.02.001. [Epub ahead of print]
- 10. Matsuo K, Ross MS, Bush SH, Yunokawa M, Blake EA, Takano T, Ueda Y, Baba T, Satoh S, Shida M, Ikeda Y, Adachi S, Yokoyama T, Takekuma M, Takeuchi S, Nishimura M, Iwasaki K, Yanai S, Klobocista MM, Johnson MS, Machida H, Hasegawa K, Miyake TM, Nagano T, Pejovic T, Shahzad MM, Im DD, Omatsu K, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Roman LD. <u>Tumor characteristics and survival outcomes of women with tamoxifen-related uterine carcinosarcoma</u>. Gynecol Oncol. 2017 Feb;144(2):329-335. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.11.042.
- 11. Matsuo K, Takazawa Y, Ross MS, Elishaev E, Podzielinski I, Yunokawa M, Sheridan TB, Bush SH, Klobocista MM, Blake EA, Takano T, Matsuzaki S, Baba T, Satoh S, Shida M, Nishikawa T, Ikeda Y, Adachi S, Yokoyama T, Takekuma M, Fujiwara K, Hazama Y, Kadogami D, Moffitt MN, Takeuchi S, Nishimura M, Iwasaki K, Ushioda N, Johnson MS, Yoshida M, Hakam A, Li SW, Richmond



AM, Machida H, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Ueda Y, Yoshino K, Yamaguchi K, Oishi T, Kajiwara H, Hasegawa K, Yasuda M, Kawana K, Suda K, Miyake TM, Moriya T, Yuba Y, Morgan T, Fukagawa T, Wakatsuki A, Sugiyama T, Pejovic T, Nagano T, Shimoya K, Andoh M, Shiki Y, Enomoto T, Sasaki T, Fujiwara K, Mikami M, Shimada M, Konishi I, Kimura T, Post MD, Shahzad MM, Im DD, Yoshida H, Omatsu K, Ueland FR, Kelley JL, Karabakhtsian RG, Roman LD. Significance of histologic pattern of carcinoma and sarcoma components on survival outcomes of uterine carcinosarcoma. Ann Oncol. 2016 Jul;27(7):1257-66. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw161.

 Krause M, Johnson MS, Delaney A, Bohler H, Nakajima S. "Successful Increase in Uterine Volume and Subsequent Pregnancy in a Patient with Previous Radiation and Chemotherapy." American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Vol. 211, Issue 2, e1–e2 Published online: May 15, 2014.

Marian Symmes Johnson

